
 

 

     Ffôn/Tel: 01656 643643                                                   Facs/Fax: 01656 668126          Ebost/Email: talktous@bridgend.gov.uk                                                                                  

     Negeseuon SMS/ SMS Messaging: 07581 157014           Twitter@bridgendCBC              Gwefan/Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk 

Cyfnewid testun: Rhowch 18001 o flaen unrhyw un o’n rhifau ffon ar gyfer y gwasanaeth trosglwyddo testun 

Text relay: Put 18001 before any of our phone numbers for the text relay service 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg. Rhowch wybod i ni os yw eich dewis iaith yw’r Gymraeg  
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please let us know if your language choice is Welsh 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith. 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

 

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate  
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643147 / 643694 
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Democratic Services/ 
Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
 
Ein cyf / Our ref:       
Eich cyf / Your ref:       
 
Dyddiad/Date: Dydd Llun, 20 Tachwedd 2023 

 

Annwyl Cynghorydd,  
 
PWYLLGOR CRAFFU TESTUN 3 
 
Cynhelir Cyfarfod Pwyllgor Craffu Testun 3 Hybrid yn Siambr y Cyngor - Swyddfeydd Dinesig, Stryd  
yr Angel, Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr, CF31 4WB/ o bell trwy Dimau Microsoft ar Dydd Llun, 27 Tachwedd 
2023 am 16:00. 
 
AGENDA 
 
1.  Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb    

 Derbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan Aelodau. 
 

2.  Datganiadau o fuddiant    

 Derbyn datganiadau o ddiddordeb personol a rhagfarnol (os o gwbl) gan Aelodau / 
Swyddogion yn unol â darpariaethau'r Cod Ymddygiad Aelodau a fabwysiadwyd gan y 
Cyngor o 1 Medi 2008.  
 

3.  Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion   3 - 6 

 I dderbyn am gymeradwyaeth y Cofnodion hynod cyfarfod y 02/10/2023 
 

4.  Prosiectau Trafnidiaeth Strategol   7 - 20 

  
Gwahoddwyr: 
 
Cynghorydd John Spanswick - Aelod Cabinet dros y Newid yn yr Hinsawdd a’r 
Amgylchedd - y Cynghorydd 
Cynghorydd Rhys Goode – Aelod Cabinet dros Dai, Cynllunio ac Adfywio 
 
Janine Nightingale - Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol, Cymunedau  
Jonathan Parsons - Rheolwr Grŵp Gwasanethau Cynllinio a Datblygu  

Kwaku Opoku-Addo – Arweinydd Tîm Cynllunio Trafnidiaeth Strategol 
 

5.  Diweddariad Rhaglen Gwaith  
 

21 - 38 

6.  Materion Brys    

Public Document Pack

mailto:talktous@bridgend.gov.uk
http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 I ystyried unrhyw eitemau o fusnes y, oherwydd amgylchiadau arbennig y cadeirydd o'r farn 
y dylid eu hystyried yn y cyfarfod fel mater o frys yn unol â Rhan 4 (pharagraff 4) o'r 
Rheolau Trefn y Cyngor yn y Cyfansoddiad. 
 

 
Nodyn:  Bydd hwn yn gyfarfod Hybrid a bydd Aelodau a Swyddogion mynychu trwy Siambr y 
Cyngor, Swyddfeydd Dinesig, Stryd yr Angel, Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr / o bell Trwy Timau Microsoft. 
Bydd y cyfarfod cael ei recordio i’w drosglwyddo drwy wefan y Cyngor.  Os oes gennych unrhyw 
gwestiwn am hyn, cysylltwch â cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01656 643148 / 
643694 / 643513 / 643696. 
 
Yn ddiffuant 
K Watson 
Prif Swyddog, Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Rheoleiddio, AD a Pholisi Corfforaethol 
 
Dosbarthiad: 
 
Cynghorwyr Cynghorwyr Cynghorwyr 
S J Bletsoe 
N Clarke 
C Davies 
P Davies 

M J Evans 
P W Jenkins 
MJ Kearn 
W J Kendall 

J E Pratt 
G Walter 
I Williams 
MJ Williams 



PWYLLGOR CRAFFU TESTUN 3 - DYDD LLUN, 2 HYDREF 2023 

 
COFNODION CYFARFOD Y PWYLLGOR CRAFFU TESTUN 3 A GYNHALIWYD YN HYBRID 
IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER - CIVIC OFFICES, ANGEL STREET, BRIDGEND, CF31 4WB 
DYDD LLUN, 2 HYDREF 2023, AM 16:00 

 
Presennol 

 
Y Cynghorydd P Davies – Cadeirydd  

 
S J Bletsoe C Davies M J Evans P W Jenkins 
MJ Kearn W J Kendall J E Pratt G Walter 
I Williams MJ Williams   

 
Ymddiheuriadau am Absenoldeb 
 
N Clarke 
 
Swyddogion: 
 
Meryl Lawrence Uwch Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd - Craffu 
Jessica Mclellan Swyddog Craffu 
Janine Nightingale Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Cymunedau 

 
53. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

 
Y Cynghorydd Norah Clarke 
 

54. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU 
 
Fe wnaeth y Cynghorwyr Jonathan Pratt, William Kendall a Mike Kearn ddatgan 
buddiannau personol fel Aelodau o’r Pwyllgor Rheoli Datblygu gan ddweud pe bai’r 
Pwyllgor yn dechrau trafod y cais cynllunio, y byddai hynny’n ei wneud yn fater o ragfarn 
ac y byddent wedyn yn datgan buddiant rhagfarnus ac yn gadael y cyfarfod. 
 
Fe wnaeth y Cynghorydd Melanie Evans ddatgan buddiant personol fel cynrychiolydd 
Bwrdd Gwarchodwyr Walia Coety, gan ddweud pe bai’r trafodaethau yn dechrau 
cynnwys y cais cynllunio y gallai hynny beri iddi ddatgan buddiant rhagfarnus a gadael y 
cyfarfod. 
 

55. GALW PENDERFYNIAD Y CABINET I MEWN. ADOLYGIAD PORTH PROSIECT 
HYBONT 
 
Cyflwynodd Uwch Swyddog y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd - Craffu yr adroddiad a’i 
bwrpas oedd galluogi'r Pwyllgor i graffu ar benderfyniad y Cabinet a wnaed ar 19 Medi 
2023 mewn perthynas â'r adroddiad ar Adolygiad Porth Prosiect HyBont. 
 
Dywedodd hi: 
- Yn unol ag Adran 7.23 o Gyfansoddiad y Cyngor, sy’n datgan bod angen 3 Aelod o 

Bwyllgor Trosolwg a Chraffu, a Chadeirydd Craffu, er mwyn i benderfyniad gael ei 
alw i mewn, derbyniwyd Hysbysiad Galw i Mewn gan 4 Aelod a Chadeirydd, yn 
gofyn am i’r penderfyniad Gweithredol a wnaed gan y Cabinet ar 19 Medi 2023 gael 
ei Alw i Mewn. 

 
- Rôl y Pwyllgorau Craffu wrth alw penderfyniad i mewn oedd:  

 Rhoi prawf ar rinweddau’r penderfyniad;  

 Ystyried y broses a ddilynwyd i lunio'r penderfyniad;  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



PWYLLGOR CRAFFU TESTUN 3 - DYDD LLUN, 2 HYDREF 2023 

 

 Gwneud argymhellion (i gefnogi’r penderfyniad, newid agweddau ar y 
penderfyniad, neu wahodd y person neu’r corff a wnaeth y penderfyniad i 
ailystyried);  

 Awgrymu camau pellach cyn i benderfyniad gael ei wneud (ond peidio â 
cheisio cymryd y camau hynny yn lle’r person neu’r corff a wnaeth y 
penderfyniad);  

 Ffurfio barn mewn cyfnod cymharol fyr, er mwyn peidio â pheryglu 
cyflymder ac effeithlonrwydd y broses benderfynu.  

 
- Roedd argymhelliad yr adroddiad yn gofyn i’r Pwyllgor ystyried penderfyniad y 

Cabinet ar 19 Medi 2023, a gafodd ei Alw i Mewn, ynghylch Adolygiad Porth Prosiect 
HyBont a phenderfynu a oedd yn dymuno, naill ai:  

 
a) cyfeirio’r penderfyniad yn ôl i’r Cabinet i’w ailystyried, gan nodi yn  

           ysgrifenedig natur ei bryderon; 
ynteu 

b) penderfynu peidio â chyfeirio’r mater yn ôl i’r Cabinet. 
 
Eglurodd y Cadeirydd pwy oedd Aelodau’r Pwyllgor a’r Aelodau nad oeddent ar y 
Pwyllgor oedd wedi cefnogi Galw’r Penderfyniad i Mewn. 
 
Gwahoddodd y Cadeirydd yr Aelodau oedd wedi cefnogi Galw i Mewn i siarad am y 
rhesymau dros Alw i Mewn. 
 
Dywedodd yr Aelodau fod y prif resymau dros Alw i Mewn yn cynnwys: 
 
- Diffyg chwilfrydedd proffesiynol, herio neu gwestiynu’r rhagdybiaethau a wnaed yn yr 

adroddiad.  
- Dewisiadau gwahanol heb gael eu hystyried yn yr adroddiad nac yn ystyriaethau'r 

Cabinet.  
- Y wybodaeth ariannol ddim yn ddigonol i fedru gwneud penderfyniad gwybodus p’un 

a oedd y prosiect yn dal i gynrychioli elw da ar fuddsoddiad.  
- Ni roddwyd sylw i faterion y tir.  
- Ni thrafodwyd sut y gellid adennill yr arian oedd wedi cael ei wario hyd yma nac a 

oedd modd edrych am gyllid arall.  
- Mae'r penderfyniad yn gwrth-ddweud Strategaeth Garbon Sero Net 2030 y Cyngor 

gan fod materion ariannol wedi cael eu hystyried yn bwysicach na lleihau allyriadau 
carbon i wrthsefyll argyfwng yr hinsawdd.  

- Roedd angen craffu ymhellach ar y penderfyniad 
 
Gwahoddodd y Cadeirydd unrhyw Aelodau eraill oedd wedi cefnogi Galw i Mewn i 
siarad ac yna gwahoddodd unrhyw Aelodau eraill o'r Pwyllgor i ofyn cwestiynau neu roi 
sylwadau. 
 
Roedd y trafodaethau manwl rhwng Aelodau, Aelodau’r Cabinet a Swyddogion yn 
cynnwys: 
- Y diffyg cyllideb i ariannu’r diwydrwydd technegol dyladwy angenrheidiol hyd at ei 

gwblhau i weld a oedd y prosiect arfaethedig yn effeithiol, a oedd dichon ei gyflawni 
ac a fyddai’n cynhyrchu’r buddion arfaethedig. 

- Methu â rhannu costau’r diwydrwydd cyfreithiol dyladwy oherwydd mai ar gyfer Pen-
y-bont ar Ogwr yn benodol yr oedd y cyngor a’i fod yn gyfreithiol freintiedig.  

- Cydbwysedd risg a gwobr ac a roddwyd ystyriaeth ddyledus i geisio deall y 
posibilrwydd o elw cyn tynnu'n ôl. 

Page 4



PWYLLGOR CRAFFU TESTUN 3 - DYDD LLUN, 2 HYDREF 2023 

 
- Costau posibl hydrogen ar gyfer fflyd yn y dyfodol, pwysau chwyddiant, a allai fod 

manteision ariannol posibl i'r prosiect ac a oedd dewis i estyn allan i awdurdodau 
lleol eraill.  

- Unrhyw oblygiadau i dynnu'n ôl o'r Memorandwm Cyd-ddealltwriaeth a wnaed rhwng 
y Cyngor a phartneriaid.   

- Eglurder nad oedd penderfyniad wedi ei wneud eto ynglŷn â’r tir.   
- I ba raddau yr ystyriwyd y gostyngiad carbon posibl a manteision posibl y rhwydwaith 

Gwres a chynhyrchu hydrogen yn y dyfodol. 
- Roedd y Cyngor wedi lleihau ei garbon o 40 mil tunnell (38%) o leiaf ac roedd 70% o 

ôl troed carbon y Cyngor yn dod o gaffael. 
- Yr amser a dreuliodd swyddogion ar y prosiect hyd yma ac effaith tynnu’n ôl ar allu 

Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr i barhau â phrosiectau eraill. 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd fod Aelodau'r Pwyllgor oedd eisiau gofyn cwestiynau i gyd wedi 
siarad, ac felly, gan nad oedd unrhyw gwestiynau pellach i'r gwahoddedigion, diolchodd 
iddynt am fod yn bresennol a gadawsant y cyfarfod. 
 
Gwahoddodd y Cadeirydd Aelodau’r Pwyllgor, wedi ystyried a oeddent yn fodlon ar yr 
atebion, a oeddent yn dymuno:  
 

a) Cyfeirio’r penderfyniad yn ôl i’r Cabinet i’w ailystyried, gan nodi’r rhesymau a’r 
rhesymeg dros y cais; 
neu 

b) Penderfynu peidio â chyfeirio’r mater yn ôl i’r Cabinet. 
 
 
PENDERFYNWYD: Yn dilyn archwilio'r penderfyniad, a chan ystyried yr uchod, 
penderfynodd y Pwyllgor beidio â chyfeirio'r mater yn ôl i'r Cabinet i'w ailystyried. 
 
 
Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 18:21 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Meeting of:  

SUBJECT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 3 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
27th NOVEMBER 2023 

 
Report Title:  

 
STRATEGIC TRANSPORT PROJECTS 

 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES 

Responsible 
Officer:  

JONATHAN PARSONS – GROUP MANAGER PLANNING & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

The report content has no direct effect upon the policy  
framework and procedure rules. 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

This report will provide the Subject Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 3 with an overview of the Council’s current and 

potential future strategic transport projects that will go 
forward for any future phases of Metro or other initiatives . 

The projects identified will also form the basis of Bridgend 
strategic transport priorities in discussions with Welsh 

Government (WG), Transport for Wales (TFW) and Network 
Rail (NR).  

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide the Subject Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee with an update of the Council’s current and potential future strategic 
transport projects in respect of schemes to go forward for any future phases of 
Metro or other national, regional and local funding applications. 
 

2. Background  
 
2.1 The Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) through its Metro programme, together with Welsh 

Government (WG), provide the principal funding mechanism for large strategic 
transport projects within the region. Current funded projects include the Porthcawl 
Metrolink bus facility, which is under construction and the Council’s active travel 
programme which together represent a substantial investment in strategic 
transportation in Bridgend.  Active travel schemes rely primarily on WG funding 
(managed by Transport for Wales) and the programme is prioritised separately as 
part of the regular active travel network map approval process.  

 
2.2 Other transport infrastructure projects (including active travel and highway 

improvements) may be funded by developer contributions (through Section 106 
planning agreements), by other grant funding initiatives and on occasions support 
from within the Authority.  Future funding opportunities may also come forward 
through the UK Government’s Levelling Up Fund (LUF) and Shared Prosperity Fund 
(SPF).  

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

2.3 Cabinet approved a previous list of strategic transport schemes in December 2021 
and the updated schedule of current schemes as outlined below in October 2023. It 
is essential that a list of schemes is agreed in order that they may be submitted as 
part of any current or future transport funding bids and also in the event that surplus 
funding is available from Welsh Government towards the end of the financial year.  A 
recognised and approved list of schemes is also necessary when identifying projects 
that could be promoted when seeking developer contributions through Section 106 
planning (S106) agreements relating to infrastructure improvements.  

 
2.4 The identified projects will also be promoted with the related public transport bodies 

i.e., Welsh Government (WG), Transport for Wales (TFW), Network Rail (NR), and 
the UK Government when discussing rail and public transport priorities.  

 
2.5 It should be noted that these schemes represent the main strategic transport projects 

currently underway or being proposed for future advancement and do not necessarily 
include other projects or schemes/enhancements that may come forward or are 
negotiated through the normal development or planning processes. 

 
2.6 The Committee are also advised that the schemes outlined below, with the exception 

of the Porthcawl Metrolink and the Active Travel programme, do not currently have 
any approved capital or revenue funding.  The ability to progress these projects will 
therefore be dependent on the necessary resources, funding and budget being 
secured.  It should also be noted that with any scheme that comes forward there will 
likely be a future maintenance liability as well as potential impacts on existing 
infrastructure.  As such schemes will be developed in consultation with the relevant 
internal teams and officers.  

 
 
3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 The current and proposed schemes as approved by Cabinet are listed below in no 

particular order and have been included in terms of their compliance with national, 
regional, and local polices as outlined below.  

 
3.1.2 National policy includes Future Wales 2040 - The National Plan (FW2040)  
 
 https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-

national-plan-2040.pdf 
 

Llybyr Newydd - The Wales Transport Strategy 2021 (WTS),  
 
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/llwybr-newydd-wales-
transport-strategy-2021-full-strategy_0.pdf 
 
 
Planning Policy Wales 11(PPW11).   
 
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/planning-policy-
wales-edition-11_0.pdf 
 
 
 

Page 8

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/llwybr-newydd-wales-transport-strategy-2021-full-strategy_0.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/llwybr-newydd-wales-transport-strategy-2021-full-strategy_0.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-11_0.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-11_0.pdf


 

Regional and local policy comprises: 
 
The Bridgend Local Development Plan 2013 (LDP),  
 
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/planning-and-building-control/development-
planning/existing-bridgend-local-plan-2013/introduction-to-ldp/ 
 
Replacement Bridgend Local Development Plan (RLDP),  
 
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/planning-and-building-control/development-
planning/replacement-bridgend-local-development-plan-2018-to-2033/ 
 
 
Bridgend Local Transport Plan (LTP),  
 
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/4087/bridgend-ltp-wg-approved-version-may-
2015-2030.pdf 
 
 
Cardiff Capital Region (CCR), Regional Transport Authority (RTA), South-East 
Wales Corporate Joint Committee (SEWCJC) priorities.  
 
https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/the-city-deal/ 
 

 
3.1.3 The report of the independent panel appointed by Welsh Government entitled ‘The 

Future of Road Investment in Wales i.e. ‘The Roads Review’ is of relevance.   
 

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2023-02/the-future-road-
investment-wales.pdf 
 
This report together with the Welsh Government response sets out the current 
national policy towards new road building and improvement in Wales. 
 
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/pdf-versions/2023/2/2/1676385038/welsh-
government-response-roads-review.pdf 
 

 
3.1.4 The inclusion of each scheme should be based on criteria outlined in the strategies 

highlighted above. Consideration must therefore be given to the impacts that the 
following schemes will have on delivering local and regional economic, 
environmental and safety objectives as well as allocation in the LTP, LDP and 
compliance with regional and national policy aims and objectives.  It should also be 
noted that a Regional Transport Plan will be prepared in 2024. 

  
3.2 Strategic Transport Schemes currently in progress 
 
3.2.1 The following schemes are those that already have capital funding and/or current 

funding from Welsh Government / CCR. 
 
 
 

Page 9

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/planning-and-building-control/development-planning/existing-bridgend-local-plan-2013/introduction-to-ldp/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/planning-and-building-control/development-planning/existing-bridgend-local-plan-2013/introduction-to-ldp/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/planning-and-building-control/development-planning/replacement-bridgend-local-development-plan-2018-to-2033/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/planning-and-building-control/development-planning/replacement-bridgend-local-development-plan-2018-to-2033/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/4087/bridgend-ltp-wg-approved-version-may-2015-2030.pdf
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/4087/bridgend-ltp-wg-approved-version-may-2015-2030.pdf
https://www.cardiffcapitalregion.wales/the-city-deal/
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2023-02/the-future-road-investment-wales.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2023-02/the-future-road-investment-wales.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/pdf-versions/2023/2/2/1676385038/welsh-government-response-roads-review.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/pdf-versions/2023/2/2/1676385038/welsh-government-response-roads-review.pdf


 

3.3 Active Travel Programme 
 
3.3.1 The Active Travel Programme is an ongoing multi-million project that is funded 

through Welsh Government and subject to an annual bidding process.  Bids for 
schemes are submitted annually and are approved on the basis that they are 
delivered during the current financial years and it is not always possible that 
projects can undergo feasibility, detailed design and implementation within the 
timescales allowed.   As such projects may have to be phased over several years 
i.e. year 1 - feasibility work, year 2 - design and finally year 3 implementation. The 
Active Travel programme is the largest ongoing strategic transport commitment and 
is considered as being essential to encouraging a ‘modal shift’ from reliance on 
private motor vehicles. 

 
3.3.2 The funding is separated into those that cover specific projects and other projects 

that may fall into ‘core’ schemes. The programme is subject to strict scrutiny by 
Welsh Government and quarterly spending returns are required.  Some approved 
funding may be rolled over to subsequent years by agreement and surplus funds 
are occasionally offered out to local authorities to develop schemes.  

 
3.3.3 Active Travel funding also requires that the route be included in the Active Travel 

Network Map (ATNM), which was approved on 3rd August 2022 by Welsh 
Government. The map may be viewed online:- 

 
https://datamap.gov.wales/maps/active-travel-network-maps/   

 
3.3.4 The ATNM combines the Existing Routes Map (ERM) and Integrated Network Map 

(INM) required by the Active Travel (Wales) Act. Existing Routes are those that 

meet the requirements of the Active Travel design guidance and are audited by 

Sustrans and other authorised third parties collaboratively. Some routes might not 

fully comply with the guidance but may still get funds from other funding sources for 

construction. Future Routes are routes that are planned for future developments 

and continuous improvement of the network. The location and details are indicative 

and subject to changes as schemes develop. The delivery of these routes depends 

on the level of available funding and the complexity of planning and design required 

for larger and more complex routes.  

 
3.3.5 The current Active Travel work programme comprises the following schemes:- 

 

• Ynysawdre Active Travel scheme (only capital project for 2023/24 – works to be 

completed by the end of the financial year 2023/24). The scheme seeks to provide 

an active travel design compliant traffic-free shared use active travel route from 

Ynysawdre (Lon Derw) to the National Cycle Network. The route will be 

approximately 430m long running generally east-west and is intended to enhance 

active travel connections for between Brynmenyn Primary School, Coleg 

Cymunedol Y Dderwen and the wider network.  The entire route is identified in the 

Council’s approved Integrated Network Map (INM), which includes consultation with 

local residents and stakeholders. The scheme offers not only an enhanced access 

to the local schools, but improved connections to nature and the nearby Bryngarw 

Page 10

https://datamap.gov.wales/maps/active-travel-network-maps/


 

Country Park, whereby there are ongoing studies to provide a missing active travel 

connection to the Garw Valley. 

 

• South Cornelly ATR (Pyle Phase 2): Funding has been granted to complete design 

and prepare Tender documentation.  The scheme aims to provide an active travel 

route (ATR) starting at the Heol-Y-Splot/A4229 roundabout, along Porthcawl Road 

and the B4283 to North Cornelly. The route forms part of a wider strategy to 

develop and implement an ATR between Pyle to Porthcawl. 

 

• A48 ATR scheme: Feasibility studies of the active travel route identified along the 

A48 between Picton Court roundabout and Laleston roundabout. Further funding 

will be required for detailed design and implementation. 

 

• School Active Travel Enhancements: Feasibility and design work for active travel 

routes along Merlin Crescent. to enhance active travel provision for journeys to 

Bryntirion Comprehensive School and for other local journeys. Implementation will 

be subject to a future successful bid application.  

 

• Brackla to Bridgend (Merthyr Mawr Bridge): this relates to the design of an active 

travel route utilising the under pass to Merthyr Mawr Road and redesign of the 

footbridge over the River Ogmore leading from Church Road to Angel Street.  

Further funding will be required for route implementation. 

 

• Active Travel Route Monitoring (Data Collection): To install cycle counters at 6 

locations to collect user data.  

 

• Active Travel Pedestrian & Cyclist Improvements: To carry out an audit of 

pedestrian crossing points at areas of concern and with reference to the County 

Borough-wide active travel consultation in 2021. The audit will identify the most 

critical pedestrian crossing deficiencies and provide, re-locate or improve them on a 

priority order basis.  The implementation of the scheme will be subject to future 

funding bids.  

 

• Bridgend Town Centre Access Enhancements: Develop feasibility and design for an 

active travel link from Bridgend Railway station to Cheapside, to further enhance 

connectivity and improve links the relocated Bridgend College campus when 

complete. This is also identified as part of the wider Bridgend Railway Station 

enhancement as described below. 

 

• Dock Street, Porthcawl: Commence a feasibility study into enhanced active travel 

links between the Metro-Link and Porthcawl town centre along Dock Street, to 

promote Active Travel and improve connectivity and permeability for pedestrians 

and cyclists. This scheme will be crucial to the future use of the Porthcawl 

Metrolink. 

 

Page 11



 

• Pencoed to Rhondda Cynon Taff boundary  (RCT) - Cross-border link: This relates 

to the provision of a seamless continuation of safe active travel routes from 

Pencoed to RCT. Further funding will be required for full design and 

implementation. 

 

• Maesteg to Bridgend (Llynfi Valley):  Llynfi Valley – Maesteg, Garth, Llangynywd 

and Cwmfelin. Feasibility for providing a north-south active travel route will enhance 

connectivity for the residents of the Llynfi valley.  The proposed route will link into 

the National Cycle Network (NCN) and complement proposals to build a passing 

loop on the railway line at Tondu to increase frequency on the existing railway line. 

 

• Pyle to Porthcawl (Phase 2): The scheme will comprise a Toucan Crossing (Pyle to 

Porthcawl Phase 2) on A4229 at the northern end of South Cornelly and another 

Toucan Crossing on the A4229 at the southern end of South Cornelly. 

 

• Bridgend to Porthcawl: Providing active travel route along A4106 Bridgend Road 

between Porthcawl and Bridgend. The proposal is for scheme development funding 

to progress the outcome of WelTAG 2 study completed in 2023. If the scheme is 

proven feasible then future funding applications could be made for a full design and 

implementation.  

 

• Garw Valley Community Route:  This relates to an upgrade program for the NCN 

route between Bryngarw House and Pontycymer. 

 

• Active Travel Safety Enhancements: The access barrier auditing work has already 

been undertaken. This work included Technology Drive and all the existing routes in 

Bridgend, Pyle and Porthcawl A total of 56 barriers have so far been identified. By 

the end of current financial year routes in Pencoed and Maesteg will also be 

audited. 

 

• Penyfai to Bridgend: Scheme development to undertake a feasibility study into 

active travel route options from Pen-Y-Fai to Bridgend via the NCN (alongside 

Tondu Road).  

 

• Bridgend (Coity Gyratory) to Designer Village: Options analysis and feasibility 

design for an Active Travel Link between the Princess of Wales Hospital to 

Bridgend Town Centre.  

 

3.4 Porthcawl Metrolink 
 
3.4.1 This is a current CCR Metro project and comprises a new purpose-built, enclosed 

bus facility located at the Salt Lake site on Porthcawl sea front linking to the South 
Wales Metro. Planning permission for the scheme was secured in May 2022 (Ref: 
P/21/1110/BCB) and the project is well advanced.  Worked commenced in July 
2023 and the facility is planned for completion in mid-2024. Active travel grant 
funding has also been awarded to commence a feasibility study into enhanced 

Page 12



 

active travel links between the Metrolink and Porthcawl town centre along Dock 
Street (see Active Travel programmer above).  

 

3.5 Proposed Strategic Transport Projects 
 
3.5.1 The following projects are put forward for approval as part of any future applications 

to the CCR Metro Programme, Levelling Up Fund, or other funding opportunities as 
well as the basis for discussion with other outside transport bodies on national and 
regional strategic transport priorities. There is currently no specific funding or 
budget in place for these schemes. 

 

3.6 Brackla Halt Railway Station  
 
3.6.1 This is a longstanding proposal for a new station facility on the South Wales 

mainline between Bridgend and Pencoed and serving the large residential area of 
Brackla and Coychurch as well as Bridgend Industrial Estate. It will also serve 
future land use developments proposed to the south of the A473 as detailed in the 
Replacement LDP.  

 
3.6.2 As well as the station, a car park has been constructed (although not in use) and a 

new active travel bridge is being considered that would form an essential link 
between Brackla and Bridgend Industrial Estate.  This bridge may also be pursued 
through the current active travel programme independently of the new station 
proposals. It is envisaged that a new station would form part of the South-East 
Wales Metro along with the existing local Pyle, Bridgend and Pencoed stations.  

 
3.6.3 There are no current TFW proposals to take this project further and it is not 

identified as a priority within the CCR transport programme, however, the station 
has not been removed from the South Wales Metro map and there is some S106 
funding available to look at the feasibility of the active travel bridge and connections 
within the area as part of wider active travel enhancements.  

 
3.7 Bridgend Railway Station enhancement 
 
3.7.1 This is a Regeneration led project, which aims to improve access and enhance park 

and ride options, active travel, a bus interchange facility, and an active travel link to 
Cheapside. This is significant part of the Bridgend Town Centre Masterplan but 
could also be considered as a strategic transport project in itself alongside the Town 
Centre Access Enhancements project described above. The project would also look 
at the feasibility of enhanced bus connections and infrastructure within the town 
centre.  
 

3.8 Ewenny Road (Maesteg) Interchange  
 
3.8.1 The Ewenny Road Interchange was identified as part of the WelTAG Stage 2 study 

into the Maesteg line enhancement project currently undertaken by TFW. An 
internal feasibility bid has previously provided funding to carry out preliminary 
feasibility studies to complement the WelTAG (Welsh Government Transport 
Appraisal Guidance) process. The scheme is expected to include a park & ride 
facility, electric vehicle charging facility, bus stops, covered cycle parking and taxi 
rank adjacent to the existing Ewenny Road rail station.  

 

Page 13



 

3.8.2 The interchange is also directly adjacent to the Ewenny Road regeneration site, a 
major mixed use residential and commercial scheme with a planning application 
currently being considered.  The interchange would provide an excellent opportunity 
to further develop transit orientated development (TOD). The principle of TOD is to 
provide residential and other development around public transport hubs as a way of 
reducing reliance on the private car and encouraging ‘modal shift’.  

 
3.8.3 The project would initially take the proposal to design stage but with suitable 

funding could be fully implemented. Furthermore, the facility, which would have 
transport benefits to the whole Llynfi Valley, has sufficient critical mass to be 
pursued independently of any future regeneration plans for the adjoining, former 
industrial site. The WelTAG study is still being considered but enhancements to the 
Llynfi Valley line remain a priority for TFW. 

 
3.9 Ford Branch Line  
 
3.9.1 The branch line opened to serve the Ford Engine factory at Waterton but is no 

longer in use following the plant’s closure in 2020. The rail head is located within 
the plant itself but the associated level crossing across the A48 has been closed. 
The track bed remains on the line, which crosses into the Vale of Glamorgan 
County Borough (VOG). Whilst it will require significant upgrading, the reopening of 
the line as a heavy rail or light rail tram train alternative with connection to Bridgend 
and VOG lines could still be developed.  

 
3.9.2 The former Ford engine plant is currently on the market and prospective purchasers 

are seeking alternative uses. It is not clear whether the use of the rail link will be 
utilised in future proposals but the opportunity to consider use of the line as a 
relatively unique transport feature will be promoted through any future discussions 
with potential developers.  

 
 
3.10 Heol Simonston / Coychurch Road Junction Improvements   
 
3.10.1 The improvement of the Heol Simonston / Coychurch Road junction has long been 

identified as a key project. Although not identified as a specific priority in the LDP or 
LTP, there is a significant local congestion problem at this location. The key issue in 
this project is to overcome highway safety issues generated by traffic congestion at 
this pinch point as well as the provision of active travel links between the residential 
areas to the north of the railway line and key employment sites to the south.  

 
3.10.2 One of the main constraints in the area is the railway bridge over the B4181 

Coychurch Rod/Heol Simonston, which carries the mainline railway line which 
narrows considerably at this point. The bridge is also a Grade ll Listed Building due 
to its architectural and historic interest as part of the original Victorian railway.  
Notwithstanding the important heritage issues which would need to be overcome, 
work to replace the bridge and realign the road would be a considerable 
undertaking with a very high financial and operational cost and as such other 
options are being considered. 

 
3.10.3 A feasibility study of the junction was originally undertaken in 2007 to assess the 

suitability of the Heol Simonston / Coychurch Road Junction for the incorporation of 
a roundabout. The purpose of the scheme was to accommodate increased traffic 

Page 14



 

flows generated from the Coed Castell Development off Coychurch Road and 
improve the operation of the existing junction. Several options were considered at 
the time.   

 
3.10.4 It should also be noted that since the 2007 study there has been significant 

changes to legislation and national policy i.e. The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013, 
which places a duty on local authorities to prioritise walking and cycle routes over 
car-based transport along with the recent Welsh Government Roads review, which 
impacts on the amount of national funding is available for new road schemes. 
These changes in legislation and policy direction will significantly influence any 
future scheme(s) coming forward.   Although some S106 funding is available to 
undertake feasibility for active travel solutions within the locality (see active travel 
schemes above), no funding to design, complete or undertake any works has been 
identified as of yet.   Internal resourcing issues will also impact on the progress of 
the project, however, options and alternatives will be reconsidered and Members 
will be updated in due course. 

 
3.11 Junction 36 (M4)  
 
3.11.1 A number of assessments and reports (e.g. the Welsh Government ‘pinch point’ 

study) have been undertaken over recent years and have evidenced that Junction 
36 has reached its operational capacity limit and there are significant queue lengths 
on all of the six junction approaches during peak periods. A WelTAG Stage 2 report 
commissioned by WG was undertaken to consider the efficiency, capacity and 
congestion issues that impact on this key node’s ability to perform its strategic 
function. This situation will restrict future growth in the north of the County Borough 
and disadvantage those who are most affected by this major constraint to 
movement. 

 
3.11.2 The provision of a safe, attractive, and extensive active travel network will improve 

local accessibility, giving residents the opportunity to walk and cycle to nearby 
services and facilities, whilst improved access to public transport services will 
enable residents to travel to employment opportunities further afield. Whilst these 
measures will increase sustainable transport use which will help release some 
capacity at J36 they are unlikely to fully resolve the problems due to the current 
physical constraints and as such major infrastructure intervention will be required. 

 
3.11.3 However, the recent WG Roads Review report has halted any further progress on 

motorway junction improvement to improve traffic congestion. Without any 
significant changes to the current junction infrastructure this national approach has 
a corresponding impact on any proposal for bus and active travel enhancement. 
Without significant infrastructure investment any future active travel improvements 
at the junction could further exacerbate congestion and as such would be limited to 
improving connectivity within the surrounding area.  

 
3.11.4 It is noted that the current activities at J36 including the Designer Outlet, hotels, 

superstore, restaurant, and cinema, is a significant employer within the County 
Borough and as such any improvements in active travel to and from the facilities 
could encourage modal shift and use of active travel with a corresponding benefit in 
reducing car-based congestion. 

 
 

Page 15



 

3.12 Metro Enhancement Framework (MEF) 
 
3.12.1 A Metro Enhancement Framework (MEF) has been prepared to enable Welsh 

Government, Transport for Wales, and the Cardiff Capital Region Transport 
Authority to start developing the pipeline of future transport projects that can be 
delivered to further complement the existing commitments being delivered as part of 
the Metro and Metro Plus programme. As part of the MEF, Transport for Wales 
have appointed Arcadis to prepare a WelTAG Stage one study. Its purpose is to 
help identify areas and ‘transport corridors’ where transport solutions could address 
the Well-being of Future Generations Act (WFGA) goals. Thirteen transport 
corridors were initially identified across the South Wales Metro area and scored 
against a set of 14 criteria.  

 
3.12.2 The highest scoring corridors to be progressed within this study were Maesteg / 

Porthcawl / Bridgend to Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. These corridors 
demonstrate the existing and future social, environmental, cultural, and economic 
challenges and the areas include the Ewenny Road Interchange and the Porthcawl 
Metrolink described above. 

 
3.13 Penprysg Road Bridge  
 
3.13.1 This project is a longstanding strategic land use and transport commitment for the 

Council as evidenced in proposed, current and previous development plans and the 
LTP. At present there is a moratorium in place on the development of Pencoed 
north of the crossing due to traffic congestion caused by an inadequate, narrow 
road bridge combined with the regular closing of the level crossing restricting north-
south access.  A working group has been set up comprising local representatives, 
politicians, Council officers, UK government, TFW and Network Rail.  The project 
involves the replacement of the sub-standard Penprysg Road bridge, closure of 
Pencoed Level Crossing and its replacement with a fully accessible active travel 
bridge. It is also considered that the project will bring economic, environmental and 
public realm enhancements to the centre of Pencoed once the level crossing has 
been removed. It should be noted that any further frequency of services along the 
mainline could lead to further congestion issues if the frequency of level crossing 
closure is increased. 

 
 
3.13.2 Using funds from the CCR Metro Plus project, a WelTAG Stage 2 study was carried 

out in August 2020, working with Network Rail and other partners, to try and find a 
long-term solution to this problem. The WelTag Stage Two study concluded that a 
combination of two options should be progressed to WelTAG Stage 3. This would 
see the provision of a new active travel bridge over the railway, adjacent to the 
station, and the permanent closure of the level crossing. The bridge would be fully 
accessible and compliant with the Equality Act. To facilitate the level crossing 
closure, Penprysg Road Bridge would also be rebuilt as a two-lane carriageway to 
increase its capacity in both directions. The new bridge would also be compatible 
with any future line electrification proposals.  A public consultation exercise took 
place in late 2021 and there is widespread local support for the project.  Network 
Rail (NR) which controls the line and track infrastructure are also supportive of the 
closure of the level crossing on rail safety grounds. 

 

Page 16



 

3.13.3 Recently as part of a TFW project, Pencoed was appraised and developed to 
WelTAG Stage 2 at programme-level via a Bridgend-Pontyclun study. TFW will be 
developing a project-level WelTAG Stage 2 Outline Business Case focusing on 
Pencoed and Llanharan Interchanges alone. This will include further optioneering 
(the potential for do minimum – intermediate – high ambition options) as well as 
commensurate concept design development for the preferred option.  

 
3.13.4 However, this TFW exercise does not include any design development for the 

Penprysg Level Crossing scheme and replacement road bridge.  Whilst the current 
design is predicated on the Level Crossing Closure coming to fruition, it is likely that 
the do-minimum and intermediate ambition options will also explore scenarios 
where the level crossing closure does not come to fruition soon, but which do not 
impinge on its subsequent development in the future, should funding prospects 
improve.  Alongside the business case, optioneering and design development on 
the Interchanges at Pencoed and Llanharan, TFW will also be looking to develop 
Station Network Plans for both Pencoed and Llanharan, assessing first-and-last 
mile routes between the interchanges and key trip attractors/conurbations in the 
areas.  

 
3.13.5 The project was identified by Cabinet as the transport project bid under the UK 

Government’s Levelling Up Fund (LUF) programme and a bid for £25 million was 
submitted in August 2022.  However, as it could not be adequately demonstrated 
that the project could be delivered within the funding timeframe, unfortunately, the 
bid was unsuccessful.  Whilst a large amount of essential feasibility work has been 
undertaken since 2020, there is still considerable work to be undertaken including 
developing a sound economic case as well as undertaking a full technical design.  
The project is not currently supported by any regional funding programme, however, 
future funding options are still being considered.  

 
3.14 Pyle Railway Station Relocation and Park and Ride.  
 
3.14.1 The existing station at Pyle was developed as part of the revitalisation of local 

railway infrastructure in the early 1990s.  However, it has significant land and 
infrastructure constraints that impact on current and future park and ride 
enhancements and therefore a relocation further east will be required if the facility is 
to be expanded into a strategic regional facility. An initial feasibility study has 
already been carried out in 2020, which indicated that the relocated station would 
cost around £20 million (at that time).  

 
3.14.2 This scheme is intended to enhance the public transport accessibility profile of the 

strategic development land at Pyle included as part of the RLDP.  This site 
comprises of approximately 2000 houses and associated commercial and 
educational development.  Existing communities along the Pyle-Porthcawl corridor 
will benefit and there is further opportunity for a park and ride facility to service 
Porthcawl. Currently, there are active travel links being developed in the area and 
relocating the Pyle railway station would facilitate the integration of land use and 
multi-modal transport as well as promoting transit orientated development. (TOD) 

 
3.14.3 The moving of Pyle Railway Station is a large-scale engineering undertaking for 

which there is no current funding to progress design or land acquisition.  As such 
the project could also include exploring interim measures to improve the facilities at 
the current station in conjunction with TFW.   

Page 17



 

3.15  Rapid Bus Infrastructure 
 
3.15.1 Rapid bus systems refer to bus-based public transport, which is designed to have 

better capacity and be more efficient than conventional bus routes that use the 
normal highway infrastructure. They typically include roadways that are dedicated to 
buses, giving priority to buses at intersections/junctions and where buses may 
interact with other traffic. These systems could be utilised more flexibly in areas that 
are not well served by rail and provide faster bus journeys from residential to 
commercial centres and employment bases.   

 
3.15.2 The project would look at feasibility of introducing these systems in the Garw and 

Ogmore Valleys as part of the South-East Wales Metro as well as a review of the 
current rail stations in the Valley Gateway area that could be utilised for enhanced 
park & ride and interchange facilities.  In the Pyle to Porthcawl travel corridor this 
project could include dedicated bus lanes and/or bus gates at congested junctions 
and be developed to complement and enhance the Metrolink bus facility in 
Porthcawl. 

 
3.15.3 The emphasis for future bus related schemes would be on the use of ultra-low 

emission vehicles to meet carbon reduction targets. However, the development of 
this project will be dependent on the available bus resource and operator 
constraints going forward. 

 
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there 

would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected 
characteristics, on socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh Language. 
It is therefore not necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal. 

 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report. 

 
6. Climate Change Implications  
 
6.1 There are no Climate Change Implications arising from this report, however, the 

development of active travel routes and public transport options also aims to reduce 
dependency on carbon intensive transport options. 
 

7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 There are no Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications arising from this  

report. 
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 The work on the Porthcawl Metrolink project has been funded by the Welsh 

Government Local Transport Fund which is administered under the Cardiff City 

Page 18



 

Region’s Metro Programme. The Active Travel programme is similarly funded through 
Welsh Government grants. As such these projects already form part of the capital 
programme. 

 
8.2 Any future approved schemes will be subject to separate funding bids. Potential 

sources of funding for future technical work and construction include Section 106 
planning contributions, Welsh Government grants, UK Government grants, Cardiff 
Capital Region Metro and City Deal initiatives.  

 
8.3 The Council will need to fully explore future funding options and at this stage any 

match funding requirements or financial commitments from the Council on individual 
projects is unknown. Future reports will be brought to Cabinet with updates on funding 
bids.  Any future capital schemes will need to be presented and approved by Council 
for inclusion in the Capital Programme. 

 
9. Recommendations 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 3 notes the report. 
 
 
Background documents 
 
None 
 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  
Meeting of:  

 
SUBJECT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 3 

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
27 NOVEMBER 2023 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE  

 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CHIEF OFFICER – LEGAL & REGULATORY SERVICES, HR 

& CORPORATE POLICY 
 

 
Responsible 
Officer:  

 
MERYL LAWRENCE 

SENIOR DEMOCRATIC SERVICES OFFICER – SCRUTINY 
 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

The work of the Overview & Scrutiny Committees relates to 
the review and development of plans, policy or strategy that 
form part of the Council’s Policy Framework and 
consideration of plans, policy or strategy relating to the 
power to promote or improve economic, social or 
environmental wellbeing in the County Borough of 
Bridgend. Any changes to the structure of the Scrutiny 
Committees and the procedures relating to them would 
require the Bridgend County Borough Council Constitution 
to be updated. 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

The Council’s Constitution requires the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee to develop and implement a 
Forward Work Programme for the Committee. 
 
The Council’s Constitution also provides for each Subject 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to propose items for the 
Forward Work Programme having regard for the Council’s 
Corporate Priorities and Risk Management framework, for 
the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee to have 
oversight and refer any cross-cutting topics to a Committee 
or Research and Evaluation Panel. 
 
The Committee is asked to consider and agree its Forward 
Work Programme, identify any specific information it 
wishes to be included in and any invitees they wish to 
attend for the reports for the next two Committee meetings, 
identify any further items for consideration on the Forward 
Work Programme having regard to the criteria set out in the 
report, consider the Recommendations Monitoring Action 
Sheet and note that the Forward Work Programme and the 
Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet for the Subject 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be reported to the 
next meeting of COSC. 

 
  

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

 
a) Present the Committee with the Forward Work Programme (Appendix A) for 

consideration and approval; 
 

b) Request any specific information the Committee identifies to be included in the 
items for the next two meetings, including invitees they wish to attend; 
 

c) Request the Committee to identify whether there are presently any further items 
for consideration on the Forward Work Programme having regard to the 
selection criteria in paragraph 3.5 of this report; 
 

d) Present the Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet (Appendix B) to track 
responses to the Committee’s recommendations made at previous meeting; 

 

e) Advise that the Committee’s updated Forward Work Programme, any feedback 
from the Committee and the Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet will be 
reported to the next meeting of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(COSC).  

 
2. Background  
 
2.1 The Council’s Constitution requires the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

to develop and implement a Forward Work Programme for the Committee. 
 
2.2 The Council’s Constitution also provides for each Subject Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee to propose items for the Forward Work Programme having regard for 
the Council’s Corporate Priorities and Risk Management framework, for the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee to have oversight and refer any cross-
cutting topics to a Committee or Research and Evaluation Panel. 

 
 Best Practice / Guidance 
 
2.3 The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny’s (CfGS) Good Scrutiny Guide recognises 

the importance of the Forward Work Programme. In order to ‘lead and own the 
process’, it states that Councillors should have ownership of their Committee’s work 
programme, and be involved in developing, monitoring and evaluating it. The Good 
Scrutiny Guide also states that, in order to make an impact, the scrutiny workload 
should be coordinated and integrated into corporate processes, to ensure that it 
contributes to the delivery of corporate objectives, and that work can be undertaken 
in a timely and well-planned manner.  

 
2.4 Forward Work Programmes need to be manageable to maximize the effective use 

of the limited time and resources of Scrutiny Committees.  It is not possible to 
include every topic proposed.  Successful Scrutiny is about looking at the right topic 
in the right way and Members need to be selective, while also being able to 
demonstrate clear arguments for including or excluding topics.  

 

Page 22



 

2.5    The CfGS’s guide to effective work programming ‘A Cunning Plan?’ makes the 
following reference to the importance of good work programming: 

 
‘Effective work programming is the bedrock of an effective scrutiny function. Done 
well it can help lay the foundations for targeted, incisive and timely work on issues 
of local importance, where scrutiny can add value. Done badly, scrutiny can end up 
wasting time and resources on issues where the impact of any work done is likely to 
be minimal.’ 
 

 
3. Current situation / proposal  
 

Forward Work Programme 
 
3.1 Following the approval of the schedule of Scrutiny Committee meeting dates at the 

Annual Meeting of Council on 17 May 2023, the standing statutory reports to this 
Scrutiny Committee of: the Corporate Plan, the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) and Budget, Performance and Budget Monitoring, etc. have been mapped 
to the appropriate timely meeting dates into a draft Forward Work Programme. 

 
3.2  The draft outline Forward Work Programme for each Scrutiny Committee have been 

prepared using a number of difference sources, including:  
 

• Corporate Risk Assessment;  

• Directorate Business Plans; 

• Previous Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Programme report topics / minutes; 

• Committee / Member proposed topics; 

• Policy Framework; 

• Cabinet Work Programme; 

• Discussions with Corporate Directors; 

• Performance Team regarding the timing of performance information.  
 

3.3 There are items where there is a statutory duty for Policy Framework documents to 
be considered by Scrutiny, e.g., the MTFS including draft budget proposals 
scheduled for consideration in December 2023 and January 2024, following which 
COSC will coordinate the conclusions and recommendations from each of the 
Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committees in a report on the overall strategic 
overview of Cabinet’s draft Budget proposals to the meeting of Cabinet in February 
2024.   
 

3.4  An effective Forward Work Programme will identify the issues that the Committee 
wishes to focus on during the year and provide a clear plan.  However, at each 
meeting the Committee will have an opportunity to review this as the Forward Work 
Programme Update will be a standing item on the Agenda, detailing which items are 
scheduled for future meetings and be requested to clarify any information to be 
included in reports and the list of invitees.  The Forward Work Programme will remain 
flexible and will be revisited at each COSC meeting with input from each Subject 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee reported and any updated information gathered 
from Forward Work Programme meetings with Corporate Directors. 

 
 
 

Page 23



 

 Identification of Further Items 
 
3.5 The Committee is reminded of the Criteria Form which Members can use to 

propose further items for the FWP which the Committee can then consider for 
prioritisation at a future meeting.  The Criteria Form emphasises the need to 
consider issues such as impact, risk, performance, budget and community 
perception when identifying topics for investigation and to maximise the impact 
scrutiny can have on a topic and the outcomes for people.  Criteria which can help 
the Committee come to a decision on whether to include a referred topic, are set out 
below: 

 
 Recommended Criteria for Selecting Scrutiny Topics: 
 
 PUBLIC INTEREST:  The concerns of local people should influence the issues 

chosen for scrutiny;  
 
 ABILITY TO CHANGE:  Priority should be given to issues that the Committee 

can realistically influence, and add value to;  
 
 PERFORMANCE:  Priority should be given to the areas in which the Council 

is not performing well;  
 
 EXTENT:  Priority should be given to issues that are relevant to all 

or large parts of the County Borough, or a large number 
of the Authority’s service users or its population; 

 
 REPLICATION:  Work programmes must take account of what else is 

happening in the areas being considered to avoid 
duplication or wasted effort.  

 

 Reasons to Reject Scrutiny Topics: 
 

 • The issue is already being addressed / being examined elsewhere and change is   
              imminent.  

 • The topic would be better addressed elsewhere (and can be referred there).  

 • Scrutiny involvement would have limited / no impact upon outcomes. 

 • The topic may be sub-judice or prejudicial. 

 • The topic is too broad to make a review realistic and needs refining / scoping. 

 • New legislation or guidance relating to the topic is expected within the next year.  

 • The topic area is currently subject to inspection or has recently undergone  
    substantial change / reconfiguration. 
 

Corporate Parenting 
 

3.6 Corporate Parenting is the term used to describe the responsibility of a local 
authority towards care experienced children and young people. This is a legal 
responsibility given to local authorities by the Children Act 1989 and the Children 
Act 2004. The role of the Corporate Parent is to seek for children in public care the 
outcomes every good parent would want for their own children. The Council as a 
whole is the ‘Corporate Parent’, therefore all Members have a level of responsibility 
for care experienced children and young people in Bridgend. 

 

Page 24



 

3.7 In this role, it is suggested that Members consider how each item they consider 
affects care experienced children and young people, and in what way can the 
Committee assist in these areas. 
 

3.8 Scrutiny Champions can greatly support the Committee in this by advising them of 
the ongoing work of the Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting and particularly 
any decisions or changes which they should be aware of as Corporate Parents. 

 
3.9 The Forward Work Programme for the Committee is attached as Appendix A for 

the Committee’s consideration. 
 
3.10 The Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet to track responses to the 

Committee’s recommendations made at the previous meetings is attached as 
Appendix B. 

 
 
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
    
4.1  The Protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in 
the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider 
the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 
 
5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 

Well-being Objectives 
 
5.1 The Act provides the basis for driving a different kind of public service in Wales,  

with 5 Ways of Working to guide how public services should work to deliver for 
people. The following is a summary to show how the 5 Ways of Working to achieve 
the well-being goals have been used to formulate the recommendations within this 
report: 

 

• Long-term - The approval of this report will assist in the planning of Scrutiny 
business in both the short-term and in the long-term on its policies, budget and 
service delivery. 
 

• Prevention - The early preparation of the Forward Work Programme allows for 
the advance planning of Scrutiny business where Members are provided an 
opportunity to influence and improve decisions before they are made by 
Cabinet. 

 

• Integration - The report supports all the wellbeing objectives. 
 

• Collaboration - Consultation on the content of the Forward Work Programme 
has taken place with the Corporate Management Board, Heads of Service and 
Elected Members. 

 

• Involvement - Advanced publication of the Forward Work Programme ensures 
that stakeholders can view topics that will be discussed in Committee meetings 
and are provided with the opportunity to engage. 

Page 25



 

 

5.2  When setting its Forward Work Programme, the Committee should consider how 
each item they propose to scrutinise assists in the achievement of the Council’s 7 
Wellbeing Objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 as follows :-   
 
1. A County Borough where we protect our most vulnerable 
2. A County Borough with fair work, skilled, high-quality jobs and thriving towns 
3. A County Borough with thriving valleys communities 
4. A County Borough where we help people meet their potential 
5. A County Borough that is responding to the climate and nature emergency 
6. A County Borough where people feel valued, heard and part of their community 
7. A County Borough where we support people to live healthy and happy lives  

 
 

6. Climate Change Implications  
 
6.1 The Committee should consider how each item they scrutinise affects climate 

change, the Council’s Net Zero Carbon 2030 target and how it meets the Council’s 
commitments to protect and sustain the environment over the long term. There are 
no Climate Change Implications arising from this report.    
 
 

7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 The Committee should consider how each item they scrutinise affects care 

experienced children and young people, and in what way the Committee can assist 
in these areas. Safeguarding is everyone’s business and means protecting peoples’ 
health, wellbeing and human rights, and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse 
and neglect. There are no Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications arising 
from this report.    

 
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1   The Committee is recommended to: 

a) Consider and approve the Forward Work Programme for the Committee 
attached as Appendix A;  
 

b) Identify any specific information the Committee wishes to be included in the 
items for the next two meetings, including invitees they wish to attend; 
 

c) Identify whether there are presently any further items for consideration on the 
Forward Work Programme having regard to the selection criteria in paragraph 
3.5 of this report. 
 

Page 26



 

d) Note the Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet for the Committee attached 
as Appendix B to track responses to the Committee’s recommendations made 
at the previous meetings; 
 

e) Note that the Forward Work Programme, any feedback from the Committee and 
the Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet will be reported to the next 
meeting of COSC. 

 

 

Background documents 
 
None.  

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

Forward Work Programme 
Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 3 

 
 

Monday 19 June 2023 at 4.00pm 

Report Topic Information Required / 
Committee’s Role 

Invitees 

 
Update on the Shared 
Prosperity Fund  
 
Corporate Parenting 
Champion Nomination 
Report  
 
Draft FWP 
 

 
 
 

 
Cabinet Members 
Cabinet Member for Climate Change 
and Environment  
Cabinet Member for Community Safety 
and Wellbeing  
Cabinet Member for Housing, Planning 
and Regeneration  
Officers 
Corporate Director – Communities  
Head of Operations – Community 
Services  
Group Manger – Economy, Natural 
Resources and Sustainability  
 
External 
  

 
 
 

Tuesday 25 July 2023 at 4.00pm 

Report Topics Information Required / 
Committee’s Role 

Invitees 

 
Update on Communities 
Directorate Position and 
Challenges 

 
Extraordinary meeting 
 
Reviewing the challenges faced by 
the Communities Directorate. 

 
Cabinet Members 
Leader  
Deputy Leader of Council and Cabinet 
Member of Social Services and Health  
Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Resources and Legal 
Cabinet Member for Climate Change 
and Environment 
Cabinet Member for Education 
Cabinet Member for Community Safety 
and Wellbeing 
Cabinet Member for Housing, Planning 
and Regeneration  
 
Officers  
Chief Executive 
Chief Officer Finance, Performance and 
Change  
Corporate Director, Communities 
 
External - NA 
  

 

Page 29



APPENDIX A 

Monday 25 September 2023 at 4.00pm 

Report Topics Information Required / 
Committee’s Role 

Invitees 

 
 
Homelessness Strategy  
 

 

 

 

Cabinet Members 
Cabinet Member for Housing, Planning 
and Regeneration   
 
Officers 
Chief Officer Finance, Performance and 
Change 
Head of Performance and Partnerships  
Strategic Housing Commissioning 
Manager 
 
External 
Head of Policy and Communications, 
Crisis Cymru 

 

Monday 27 November at 4.00pm 

Report Topics Information Required / 
Committee’s Role 

Invitees 

Strategic Transport 
Projects 

 

Transport Planning 
Future Priorities 

Cabinet Members 
Cabinet Member for Climate Change 
and Environment; 
Cabinet Member for Housing, Planning 
and Regeneration; 
 
Officers 
Corporate Director, Communities;  
Group Manager Planning & 
Development Services; and 
Strategic Transportation Planning Team 
Leader  

 

Monday 22 January 2024 at 4.00pm 

Report Topics Information Required / 
Committee’s Role 

Invitees 

 
Draft Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 2024-
25 to 2027-28 and Budget 
Proposals 
 

 
 

Cabinet Members 
Leader  
Deputy Leader of Council and Cabinet 
Member of Social Services and Health  
Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Resources and Legal 
Cabinet Member for Climate Change 
and Environment 
Cabinet Member for Community Safety 
and Wellbeing 
Cabinet Member for Housing, Planning 
and Regeneration  
Officers 
Chief Executive  
Chief Officer Finance, Performance and 
Change  
Corporate Director Communities  

Page 30



APPENDIX A 

Monday 26 February 2024 at 4.00pm 

Report Topics Information Required / 
Committee’s Role 

Invitees 

 
Future Waste Services 
Work Stream post 2026 
(Provisional) 

 

 

 Cabinet Members 
Leader of the Council; 
Cabinet Member for Climate Change 
and Environment; 
 
Officers 
Corporate Director, Communities 
Head of Operations - Community 
Services  
 
External 
 

 
 

Monday 22 April 2024 at 4.00pm 

Report Topics Information Required / 
Committee’s Role 

Invitees 

 
Levelling Up Fund 
Porthcawl Pavilion  
 
 
Shared Prosperity Fund 

 
 

 

 

 

Progress update for year 2 of 3 year 

plan. 

 
Cabinet Members 
Cabinet Member for Housing, Planning 
and Regeneration  
Cabinet Member for Community Safety 
and Wellbeing 
 
Officers 
Corporate Director Communities 
Head of Operations - Community 
Services 
 
Group Manager - Strategic 
Regeneration  
 
Group Manager - Economy, Natural 
Resources & Sustainability  
 
External 
 

 

 

 

Future Item to be scheduled: 

 

Audit Wales - Springing Forward Asset Management Inspection report – Action Plan  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



APPENDIX A 

Potential Items  
 

• Update on Heat Network projects 
 

• Local Biodiversity Action Plan  
 

• 2030 Net Zero Carbon 
 

• Porthcawl Regeneration Update  
  

• Transforming Towns 
- Masterplans (Bridgend Town Centre and other Town masterplans)  
- Tourism (attracting tourism, including capacity for mobile accommodation) 
- Transport Plan Porthcawl  
- Maesteg Town Centre  

 

• Housing (Affordable; Accessible; Social; Energy efficiency housing; Registered Social 

Landlords.)  

 

• Play areas / opportunities  
 

• Emerging Valleys Regeneration Strategy  
 
 

Member Briefing sessions 
 

• Infrastructure Delivery including specifically condition of the highways / potholes 
 

• Corporate Joint Committees Regional Responsibilities 
 

• Communities Directorate Target Operating Model (TOM) 
  

 
Information reports  
 

• Electric charging points update on position within the three phases currently and 
ongoing. 
 

• Position update on Community Asset Transfers (CAT)  

Page 32



APPENDIX B 

 
 

Subject Overview and Scrutiny Committee 3 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS MONITORING ACTION SHEET 2023-2024 
 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome 

19 June 
2023 

Update on 
Shared 
Prosperity 
Fund  

While the Committee acknowledged that starting a 
scheme or project before written confirmation of 
any Government Grant Funding carried some risk, 
Members reflected on whether the process 
undertaken by Cabinet and Officers had taken into 
consideration the risk of the UK Government not 
permitting the rolling of year 1 funding into year 2. 
Members therefore recommended that Cabinet 
consider whether, on balance, starting the process 
of these projects before funding was received was 
a justified risk moving forward and also provide 
reassurance as to how they could ensure it will be 
considered in future decisions, as the Authority 
would not want to receive any less than the 8.3% 
announced by the United Kingdom (UK) 
Government.  

 

Cabinet Members 
/ Corporate 
Director of 
Communities 

ACTIONED – response and 
information circulated 19 
September 2023. 

19 June 
2023 

Update on 
Shared 
Prosperity 
Fund  

The Committee furthermore recommend that a 
way of providing short term interim funding 
(including potentially reserves) for projects that 
have a high degree of certainty of Grant Funding 
be explored and consideration be given to 
mechanisms for managing risk and allowing 
projects to commence where Grant Funding had 
been agreed in principle, but not yet formalised.  

 

Chief Officer - 
Finance, 
Performance & 
Change / 
Corporate 
Director of 
Communities  

ACTIONED – response and 
information circulated 19 
September 2023. 

P
age 33



APPENDIX B 

 
 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome 

19 June 
2023 

Update on 
Shared 
Prosperity 
Fund  

That Members be informed of the outcome, as 
soon as possible, of whether or not the request 
made by a number of Authorities to roll over year 1 
funding into year 2 had been granted.  

 

Corporate 
Director of 
Communities 

ACTIONED – response and 
information circulated 19 
September 2023. 

19 June 
2023 

Update on 
Shared 
Prosperity 
Fund  

Information that the Director of Communities 
offered regarding engagement with community 
groups to establish the level of demand for 
Bridgend Local Investment Grant Funding and 
assistance required. This was in response to 
Members’ concerns regarding responsibilities and 
reliance on volunteers and organisations to deliver 
the projects and Officers’ explanations that part of 
the UKSPF was to build resilience and economic 
development, targeting communities that may not 
normally have access to that type of funding.  

 

Corporate 
Director of 
Communities 

ACTIONED – response and 
information circulated 19 
September 2023. 

25 July 
2023  

Update on 
Communities 
Directorate 
Position and 
Challenges  

That the Update on Communities Directorate 
Position and Challenges report be made 
available to all Committee Members.  
 

Scrutiny  ACTIONED – response and 
information circulated 19 
September 2023. 

25 July 
2023  

Update on 
Communities 
Directorate 
Position and 
Challenges  

The Committee welcomed the proposal of a plan 
over the next five years to develop a new Target 
Operating Model (TOM) as explained by the 
Corporate Director of Communities, of what the 
Communities Directorate can deliver in 
alignment with their resources and budget. 
Looking at all the services they deliver, statutory 

Corporate 
Director for 
Communities / 
Scrutiny  

ACTIONED – response and 
information circulated 19 
September 2023. 

P
age 34



APPENDIX B 

 
 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome 

responsibilities and the communities’ 
expectations. The Committee recommended 
that at the opportune time when the Target 
Operating Model (TOM) draft becomes available 
it is added to the Forward Work Programme for 
review by the Committee.  

25 July 
2023  

Update on 
Communities 
Directorate 
Position and 
Challenges  

That the Town and Community Council Forum 
consider the current model of partnership 
working between the Local Authority and the 
local Town and Community Councils and 
explore options for better communication, more 
collaborative working and whether the authority 
can assist Town and Community Councils take 
on leadership of certain service provisions. The 
Members requested that the outcome of this 
discussion be provided back to Committee as an 
information report.  
 

Corporate 
Director for 
Communities / 
Democratic 
Services 
Manager  

ACTIONED – response and 
information circulated 19 
September 2023. 

25 July 
2023  

Update on 
Communities 
Directorate 
Position and 
Challenges  

The Committee discussed the Communities 
Directorate operating with a £31m budget 
allocation in the financial year 2023/2024 and it 
is representing 9% of the authority’s budget. 
They considered whether any benchmarking 
had been done in terms of budget per head of 
population in the authority for Communities 
versus those of other authorities in South Wales 
of a similar size. The Chief Executive advised a 
piece of work had been commissioned through 
the Welsh Local Government Association 

Corporate 
Director for 
Communities  

ACTIONED – response and 
information circulated 19 
September 2023. 

P
age 35



APPENDIX B 

 
 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome 

(WLGA) which they intend to share in the next 
Budget Research and Evaluation Panel (BREP).  

25 Sept 
2023 

Homelessness 
Strategy 

The Committee recommended to strengthen the 
Strategy in terms of support for veterans and 
Armed Services personnel. 

Chief Officer – 
Finance, 
Performance and 
Change / Head of 
Partnerships 

Recommendations circulated 
requesting response. 

25 Sept 
2023 

Homelessness 
Strategy 

The Committee recommended to maximise 
effectiveness of the Strategy, that the strategic 
priority objectives be reviewed to ensure that 
they are SMART (Specific, Measurable, 
Achievable, Relevant and Timebound) and set 
out in the Action Plan and the timescales be 
broken down further detailing the year and 
month in which each action is planned to be 
achieved, so that progress can be clearly 
measured. 

Chief Officer – 
Finance, 
Performance and 
Change / Head of 
Partnerships 

Recommendations circulated 
requesting response. 

25 Sept 
2023 

Homelessness 
Strategy 

The Committee recommended that the Strategy 
be made more user friendly and as easy to 
navigate as possible. 

Chief Officer – 
Finance, 
Performance and 
Change / Head of 
Partnerships 

Recommendations circulated 
requesting response. 

25 Sept 
2023 

Homelessness 
Strategy 

The Committee requested a route map setting 
out the broad working practice model of what 
happens when someone presents as homeless, 
including the stages, timescales and type of 
services offered and where appropriate, average 
timescales for rehousing. 

Chief Officer – 
Finance, 
Performance and 
Change / Head of 
Partnerships 

Recommendations circulated 
requesting response. 

P
age 36



APPENDIX B 

 
 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome 

2 Oct 
2023 

Call In of 
Cabinet 
Decision: 
Hybont Project 
Gateway 
Review 

The Committee concluded that the Decision 
would not be referred back to Cabinet. 
 

- Complete. 

 

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion
	4 Prosiectau Trafnidiaeth Strategol
	5 Diweddariad Rhaglen Gwaith
	6a. Appendix A - FWP - SOSC 3
	6b. Appendix B - Action Sheet SOSC 3 - 2023-24


